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DEGCISION OF THE PANEL:

THE PANEL CONFIRMS THE DECISION OF THE DIRECTOR OF FAIR TRADING
(AS DELEGATED) DATED OCTOBER 18™, 2617 PURSUANT TO 179 OF THE
FTAIN FINDING THAT EXPRESS AUTO BREACHED SECTIONS 8(3)b), 6{4)(a)
AND 6(4){b) OF THE FTA.,

THE PANEL FURTHER CONFIRMS THE AMOUNT OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE
PENATY IMPOSED Of $5000.

AS A RESULT, THE BALANCE OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTY i$ DUE TO
BE PAID IMMEDIATELY AND MR. puiiliMUST BE PAID THE AMOUNT OWED

TO HIM OF $652.62.

OBSERVERS: OBSERVERS FROM INVESTIGATIONS UNIT OFFICE. AND
" JUDITH BESSELL, OBSERVER
LOCATION OF THE HEARING: #301, 7015 MACLEQD TRAIL SW CALGARY, AB T2ZH 2K6

DATE: JUME 12, 2018
AWARD DATE: JUNE 24, 2018
APPENDIX: 1. PROGCEDURAL DECISION OF THE PANEL DATED

MARCH 9™, 2018 RE APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR
WITNESSES TO BE COMPELLED AND FCR VIDEO
TRANSCRIFTS;

2. DECISION OF DIRECTOR OF FAIR TRADING OF
OCTOBER 18™ UNDER APPEAL,;

NOTICE OF APPEAL FILED NOVEMBER 7™. 2017,

4. R1 EXHIBIT BINDER OF AMVIC, OF JURISDICTIONAL
DOCUMENTS, TABS 1 TO 5; _

b R2 EXHIBIT BINDER OF AMVIC'S DISCGLOSURE

DOCUMENTS, TABBED A, B1 TOB12, C, D, AND E {93

PAGES IN TOTAL);
6. R3 OVERVIEYY OF AMVIC'S CASE SUBMISSIONS

DATED MAY 10™, 2018
7. R4 SINGLE DEALER TRACK PAGE, CLEARER THAT
CRIGINAL IN R 2 PAGE 55

8. A1 EXPRESS AUTO BINDER OF DOCUMENTS
TABBED D1 TO D10.
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INTRODUCTION

The Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal pursuant to Section 179 of the Fair
Trading Act (the FTA) from the Decision of the Director of Fair Trading (as
delegated), dated October 18, 2017, to impose an administrative penalty of

$5000.00 on the Appellant.

The Director's decision was made pursuant to findings of contravention under
section 6(3)(b), 6{4)(a), (4)(b) and the administrative penalty under Sections
158 1 and 158.2 of the FTA.

A consumer complaint against Exprese Aufo had been received by AMVIC in
December 2016.

An Administrative Review was held in Calgary on July 13, 2017.

The Director’s decision to impose a penalty was dated October 18, 2017.

The Notice of Appeal was dated November 71, 2017. It was filed on behalf of
the Appellant by Mr. Stotschek as the Agent/representative and by Mr. Steven

Humber, General Manager on behalf of Express Auta.

Pursuant to section 179(2) of the FTA, David Morhart, Deputy Minister of Service
Alberta appointed an appeal Panel to hear the Appeal of Express Auto.

The Panel Appointment date was November 22, 2017,

Prior to the hearing being held the Panel made a number of procedural
Decisions on a humber of preliminary issues raised by Mr. Stoischek on behalf

of the Appellant.

Such decisions are attached as appendix to this decision and referenced in the
body of this decision.

The Appeal Panel hearing tock place on May 10", 2018 for one day.

it was conducted by a three-person Panel consisting of Chair Virginia May and
Panel members Allen Briggs and Lyle Berge.

The Director's case was heard first by agreement.
Witten evidence was provided by the Appellant and the Director.
Oral evidence was called by the Director but not by the Appellant.

A list of exhibite entered in the hearing is attached as an Appendix to this
decision.
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18.

19.

20.

21,

22,

This decision of the appeal Panel is provided under the jurisdiction of Section 15
of the Appeal Board R 195/99 Regulation {ABR}) under which the order, appeal,
hearing and decision was made.

It was agreed at the end of the hearing by the parties and Panel members that
written submissions were not required by the Panel.

Counsel for the Director provided brief oral submissions at the beginning and
end of the hearing and provided brief written submissions at the end.

The agent for the Appellant provided brief oral submissions at the beginning and
end of the hearing.

Ms. Hale provided a brief written overview at the conclusion.

The Panel advised they would provide a decision hy June 24", 2018.
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28,
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30

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

JURISDICTION

The jurisdiction for the appeal hearing and for the Director to make her decision
of October 18% 2017 comes from the Fair Trading Act RSA 2000 C F2 and its
Regulations, the Automotive Business Regulation Ata Reg 192/99 (ABR) and
the Appeal Board Regulation Alta Reg 195/99 (ABR).

Copies of these jurisdictional Documents can all be found in Exhibit R1 together
with the Appointment documents, the Decision, appealed from, the Appeal and
the legisiation and regulations.

The FTA and ABR regulate, among other things, the automatfive business in
Alherta. The Director's power comes from Sectfion 104 of the FTA.

" Part 2 of the FTA division 1 deals with Unfair and negative Practices.

The Decision of the Directer under Appeal found three such breaches,
classifying them as unfair practices.

As a result, under section 158.1 and section 158.2 of the FTA the Director s
entitled, by notice in writing to the person, fo require that person to pay an
administrative penalty in the amount set out in the notice.

Pursuant to section 158.2 the Appellant had a right to respand to the notice.

Administrative penalties (FTA) Reg AR 135 2013 sefs out in Section 2 the factors
to be taken into account by the Director in impasing the amount.

The regulation establishes a minimum penalty of $250 and a maximum penally
of $100,000.00 under section 158.1(3) of the FTA.

Section 166 of the FTA explicitly incorporates vicarious liabilify and states that
an act or omission of an employee or agent is deemed to be an act or omission
of the involved employer if undertaken during employment or under an agency
relationship.

Pursuant to secfion 179{1) of the FTA a person in the Appellant's position has
the right to Appeal the decision of the Director within 30 days after being notified

in writing of the decision.

Pursuant to section 179{6) of the FTA an appeal board may confirm, quash or
vary the crder of the Diractor.

Pursuant to Section 4 of Administrative Penalties (FTA) Reg the fee for
appealing the administrative penalty was set at $1000 and was paid.




36,

av.

38.

Pursuant to Section 180{4) of the FTA the appeal stays the administrative
penalty unfil the final decision on the appeal.

The Panel acknowledges that pursuant to section 178(8) of the FTA an Appeal
is a new trial of the issues.

No objection was made at any time to the compagsition of the Appeal Panel by
the Appellant or his agent.




PRELIMINARY DECISIONS OF THE PANEL PRIOR TO THE HEARING

DEGISION ON ROLE OF MR. STOTSCHEK AS AGENT/REPRESENTATIVE OF
EXPRESS AUTO up to and AT THE HEARING

39.

40.

41.

42.

43.

45.

48,

47.

48.

48.

The Panel made a Decision on February 151, 2018 on whether Mr. Stotschek
could remain agent /representative for the Appellant up to and at the hearing.

Mr. Stotschek is not a lawyer, he is a retired police officer.

The issue was an open one for decision- making by the Panel since Ms. Haie
tack no position or behalf of AMVIC.

The Panel felt it needed to decide the issue because of the following facts in Mr.
Stotschel’s recent employment history:

- His recent Employment as an AMVIC investigator in Caigary,

- His active role as a compiiance officer for Express Auto and its 50%
partner in the investigative process leading fo the decision under appeal;

- His participation in the administrative hearing held on July 13™, 2017 on
behalf of the Appellant; and

- His Participation in various inferviews or examinations of individuals,
involved, including the assigned investigator Mr. | N

The Panel reviewsd the law in relatton to a non-lawyer acting as
agent/representative in those circumstances as provided by Ms. Hale for AMVIC

First it noted that Section 9 of the ABR (ALTA Reg 185/89) made it clear that
Appellants can be represenfed by counsel.

AMVIC did not take a position on Mr. Stotschek remaining the agent of the
Appellant as a non-lawyer.

Ms. Hale advised that the legal test is whether an agent will facilitate rather than
hinder an adjudicative process.

She advised that this was an open question that the Panel could determine.

The Panel therefore wrote the following decision on February 15, 2018,




DECISION ON AGENCY ROLE OF MR STOTSCHEK., FEBRUARY 18™, 2018

50. The Panel recognizes it has the discretion to refuse to accept Mr. Stotschek as
the representative of Express Auto for the management and running of the
appeal, if it considers that his representation might hinder rather than facilitate

the adjudicative process.

51.  Atthis stage of the proceeding the Panel does not feel it has enough information
fo determine whether Mr. Stotschek would be a help or a hindrance.

52. The Panel has therefore defermined that Mr. Stotschek may remain as
representative for the Appellant through the appeal process, including the
hearing, subject to the following conditions:

1. Mr. Stotschek provides no oral evidence himself at the hearing;

2 Mr. Stotschek acknowledges that he is representing only Express Auto,
and not its 50% partner, Landsperg, and

3. Mr. Stotschek recognizes that the Panel refains the right to remove him
from his representative role at any time, including during the hearing,
should it become obvious to all three Panel members that he is hindering
rather than helping the adjudicative process.

53. Mr. Stotschek accepled these conditions in writing on the same day,

10




SUBSTANTIVE ISSUES TO BE DETERMINED AT THE HEARING
51.  The panel determined the issugs on the Appeal are as follows:

1. Whether Express Auto breached one or more of Sections 6(3)(b}, 6{4){a)
or 6{4)(b) of the Fair Trading Act in its transaction with the Complainant

M. I

2. If there was a breach or breaches of the Fair Trading Act, what, if any,
administrative penalty against Express Auto should result.

52.  The Panel rejected Mr. Stotschek’s views of the issues on behalf of Express
Aute, including his suggestions that:

- Express Aute did not know the case against it;

- Express Auto was not made aware of potential consequences it faced;

- The Director was biased and “guided and assisted the direction of the
investigation®;

- Evidence was coilected under ‘duress” and the Appellant was not

“cautioned™;
- The Direcfor was in a conflict of interest; and
- Express Auto was not given proper notice of the administrative penalty.

53.  Section 179(8} of the FTA makes clear that an Appeal before the panel is a fresh
hearing.

54.  5.179(8) an Appeal under the section is "a new trial of the issues that resulted
in the decision, order or administrative penalty being appealed.”

55.  The result of the hearing will be based only on the evidence befare it and decidad
by a fresh group of decision makers this is a new trial.

56.  Therefore, even if there had been earlier procedural problems or perception of
bias leading to the Director's decision, such issues do not carry over.

67.  The Panel will decide the Appeal on the evidence it hears and reads.

11




FURTHER PROCEDURAL DECISION OF THE PANEL ON TWO REQUESTS OF
MR STOTSCHEK ON BEHALF OF EXPRESS AUTO

58. On March 9™ 2018, the Panel wrote a further procedural decision with
reference to two further demands of Mr. Stotschek for his client (see appendix
for complete decision of March 9%, 2018) (see full decision in the Appendix).

REQUEST A

59.  Mr. Stotschek’s request to receive various video tapes from the administrative
review of July 13", 2017, and video recordings of Mr. I interview of the
gomplaint and Mr. Stotschek’s own interview of Mr. Il He also later
wanfed better guality videos and transcripts.

60.  Mr. Stotschek was provided with copies of the videos in disclosure by Ms. Hale
and was provided with a copy of the Video Recording Policy giving him the
mechanism to order his own transcripts.

61. The Panel noted his receipt of the videos and the policy to get transcnpts and
took no further part in the issue and made no decisions.

62.  Eventually the videos formed no part of the hearing as framed by the F‘anel and
| helieve no transcripts were requested by Mr. Stotschek.

REQUEST B

63.  Mr. Stotschek requested on behalf of Express Auto that the Panel compel three
witnesses to be called to the hearing for cross examination.

64. The witnesses were:

a. Mr. - s<hicr manager of investigations at AMVIC

b. Ms. Chomey, Director of fair trading as delegated in October 2017 and
the author of the decision of October 18", 2018 under appeal; and

¢. Mr. Doug Lagere, GEO of AMVIC, who was present at the July 131, 2017
review.

85. The Panel wrote a full decision on this matter ON MARCH 9™, 2018 {see
Appendix).

66. In summary the Panel denied Mr. Stotschek’s request to compel these three

witnesses.

12




67.

68.

69.

7.

71,

72,

The Panel recognized it did have authority to compel witnesses under section
182 of the FTA, which gives the chair of an Appeal Board fhe same power as
held by the Court of Queen's Bench Justice in Civil Actions.

The Chair and the Panel also noted they had discretion in the use of that
authority.

The burden cn Mr. Stotschek was to show the chair what relevant evidence
would come from any of these particular withesses and the particular issue to

be dealt with.
The Panel concluded, since the hearing was a new trial under secfion 179(8},
the suggested witnesses were not relevant, would not provide evidence of any

weight, and one of them could not be compelled as a decision maker of the
Decision under appeal.

This was a hew trial.

The exercise appeared to be 2 fishing tnp.

13
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74,
75.

76.

7.
78.

79,

80.

a1.
82.

83.

84.
. 85,

86.

PROCEDURAL GUIDELINES FOR HEARING

The Chair provided all parties and Panel members by email with procedural
guidelines for the hearing.

The hearing took place according to those guidelines.
Documentary disclosure took place prior to the hearing

Witness names were provided prior to the hearing the Appellant’s choices of
withesses were rejected by the Panel and no withesses appeared for the

Appellant.
Evidence was sworn.
There was no raecording of the evidence.

The Panel proceeded with the hearing on the issues as defined by
AMVIC.

The Director presentad her case first by agreement of the parties

The Withesses were available for relevant cross examination and
guestions from the Panel.

Withesses were excluded from the hearing room until their evidence was
given.

The Hearing was open to the public.

No written submissions were required by the Panel at the beginning of the
hearing or its conclusion.

Both the appellant and AMVIC had an opportunity to make brief eral submissions
hefore evidence and at end of hearing.

Decision is fo be provided by 24% June 2018.

14




THE HEARING

QPENING COMMENTS, THE CHAIR

87.

ag.

89.

a0.

a1.

The chair acknowledged Ms. HALE Representing AMVIC and Mr. Stofschek as
agent for Express Auto. Mr. Humber of Express Aute was in attendance
throeughout the hearing.

Ms. Hale confirmed that AMVIC would present its case first and then Express
Auto would respond.

The chair confirmed that both parties would have the right to cross examine the
witnesses on relevant matfers and the Panel to ask any questions. She also
pointed out that the Panel reserved the right to sherten the questioning process
when it became irrelevant to the issues to be dealt with.

The issues to be dealt with were those relating to certain alleged breaches of 5
6 of the FTA and the administrafive penalty imposed upon the Appellant resulfing

fram those breaches.

The chair advised the parties that they need make only a brief summary of their
position at the opening of their case, and that oral argument could fellow at the

end.

AMVIC'S POSITION BY M5, HALE

92.

93.

Ms. Hale summarized her position that Express Auto breached the FTA when
the complainant Mr. il was sold a vehicle under circumstances where no
reasonable person would have believed he could have afforded it. The deal was
misrepresented to him. He is not a sophisticated clienf. This transaction
undermines the heart of the purpose of the FTA {now called the Consumer

~ Protection Act.).

She pointed out that there were no allegations in this appeal of fraud against
Express Auto. As sha pointed out that potentially could be a matter between the
financial institution and Express Auto. She further pointed out that AMVIC was
not pursuing any prosecution, and that no charter righis were at stake here. It
was an administrative action by a regulator against a licensed business.

13




EXPRESS AUTOS POSITION BY MR. STOTSCHEK

94.

95.

96.

O7.

88,

99,

Mr. Stofschek then spoke on behalf of Express Auto. He stated that three
sections in S. 6 of the FTA had been initiated. The position of Express Auto was
to show the threshold of reasonableness was not crossed. He will prove there
were several fssues with the actual AMVIC investigation; there were several
breaches within the FTA as well as several policies both authored by and held
in very high standard by AMVIC.

The Panel interrupted Mr. Stotschek and reminds him that this is a new trial and
that what happened before is irelevant.

Mr. Stotschek continued and said whan the AMVIC withess investigator provides
his testimony, he will show that the way he got there breached several infernal

policies to formulate his actions.

The Panel stated it may not allow it.

Mr. Stotschek continued and alleged that AMVIC must follow FTA approved
process like the auto indusiry. He states critical evidence will show it was

skipped over.

He wants to establish the fruth through this whole process.

16




WRITTEN EVIDENCE

100. Ms. Hale acknowledged the jurisdictional hinder already provided to all parties
and the Panel. I was entered as Exhibit R1, tabs 1 to 8.

101. She then provided all parties and the Panel with Exhibit binder R2, containing
93 pages, labelled as tabs A to E with tab B having 12 subsections.

102. She provided Exhibit R3 with 4 tabs, including an overview of the case and some
relevant case law. She also provided Exhibit R4 an improved version of page 55

in Exhibit R2.

103. Mr. Stolschek provided Binder A1 centaining fabs D1 te10.

17




BN 'S EVIDENCE
UNDER DIRECT EXAMINATION FROM MS. HALE

104.

105.

106.

107.
108..
109.
110

1i1.

112.

113.

114.

113,

116,

117.

118.

119.

Mr. I is criginally from the SN - and has been in Canada from
Il English is his 2™ language.

He was researching used cars online because he wanted fo replace his
expensive Dodge Caravan with a different car that would lower his cosfs by
being fuel efficient and would have lower monthly payments.

He had too much debt and was in a consumer proposal. This puf all his debts in
one.

His asset was the used car, the Dodge.

As per its terms, he consolidated his loans to 1 monthly payment.

Online he had to enter his credit application.
As a result, he received a call from Express Auto, an unknown name to him.

Express Auto said he qualified for a second-hand car and they could help him
out. He didn’t remember the name of who called him from Express Auio.

They wanted to meet him; they had ne particular vehicle in mind.

When he got there, all the documents were done. He met a salesman. He looked
at a couple of vehicles and test drove a red Chevy Malibu. He didn't recall the
sales person’s name. The salesman told him he had te get approval.

He told the salesman, he wanted to lower his payments, and that he was in a
propasal.

He fold the salesman he wanted to trade in his Dodge.

He then gave the salesman his trustee information. Express Auto said they had
already talked to the trustee; They had the phone number.

He got his new vehicle on the first day. The Chevy Malibu. It had lower monthly
payments.

He left his Dodge Caravan at Express Auto for the purposes of a trade-in.

He told them he wanted a frade in and drove away in the Malibu. And left the
Dodge at Express Auto.

18




120.

121.

122.

123

124.

125.

126.

127.

128.

129.

130.

131.

132.

Ms. Hale shows Mr. i Tab B2 - P. 32-Exhibit, R2, dated November 19, 2016,
a Bill of sale for Malibu-he confimed it was not his signature, nor his initials.

He then looks at tab 8, P. 74 and confirms his initials. The salesman Bryce was
witness. It is dated 19/11/16. It is a bill of sale for the Malibu.

There are two bills of sale. Page 32 is a bill of sale for the Malibu alsc dated the
19% /1 1/16 with the trade in crossed out.

After Mr. il had signed, Bryce crossed out the central portion and said there
was going fo be no trade-in.

For the first time he then knew Bryce was not going to keep his van and he was
told they will do something to get rid of his van; He understood that was why

. they got the trustee info-to make an arrangement.

That's why Il left his Dodge. It bothered him at first, until they said they would
help him out. The same person whe crossed out the trade in and signed the
contract had shown him around the car lot. He thought ence he signed he was

stuck with the deal.
He brought the Malibu back to the Iot to be fitted with a remote starter.

Suddenly he was called by the bank, Trans Can Leasing (TCL) because he had
not made his bi-weekly Dodge payment. He had stopped paying ior the Dodge
following the advice of Shaun at Express Auto.

Ms. Hale asks him to turn to P. 25, behind tab B,1, which shows the co-lessee
is his wife. He was the only lessee on the Malibu. He wanted fo start building his

credit rating.

TLC was called by Express Auto asking for a buy-cut cost on Dodge. Anna
Kolodynski of TLC provided a buyout quote to Shaun at Express Auto on
November 21, 2016. and set out the buyout price for the dodge as $23,123.65
on November 21 (2016 page 42).

Mr. Jll told TCL that Express Auto said they would deal with it through their
lawyers.

He could not pay for two cars.

I asked Anna at TCL for help. She suggested returning the Malibu while
there was a chance to return it. '
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133.

134.

135.

136.
137.

138.

139.
140.
141.
142.

143.

144.

145.

146.

147,

He returned the Chevy in the return period before they could start to collect
payment on it. He had asked Josh about returning the car. He left the cheque
that Express had given him for the 1% two payments and the keys of the Chevy
on the table. He told Josh finance manager that he was returning the Chevy
because he had to keep the Dodge. Josh said he couldn't do that; the Chevy

was his car now.
Josh told gl fo ta'k to Shaun. Shaun teld him it was his car, he should stop

payments to TCL, change bank accounts and open a new one to make
payments to new finance company for Dodge. TCL. Shaun feld him TCL were

only trying to scare him.

B went to talk to Mr. Humber the manager and he said the Malibu is your car
and he could do nothing about it.

I cidn’t know what to do. Everything was a mess.
He drives his Dodge van now.

He has no idea what happened to the Chevy. He was very scared of having a
repossassed car which would impact his consumer proposal.

I believes that Express took Chevy out for repossession.

I felt very unmmfc-rta.b[e with the whole events

B 2sked Anna of TCL for help. She suggested he contact AMVIC.
He filed a complaint with AMVIC in January (page 80 of Exhibit R2).

I o5t around $600 and had fo pay fees to Chevy finance. It was too late for
him to close the account and they took money from his account and charged for
NSF cheque. He also paid insurance for cne month.

I thinks this has i.mpacted his consumer propesal, but he has no access to
it (P. 90, Tab C{] written statement i.e. his complaint to AMVIC).

He did not know what to do with the Dodge and kept getting calls from TCL for
payment and Express told him to stop the payments.

He doesn’t know what Shaun's position is at Express Auto.
Summary: Jiilsaid he dealt with Shaun, sales consultant, Bryce, and spoke
to GM-Steven Humber who told him the Chevy is his car.

20




148,

149,

In conclusion il said he only wanted a cheaper car to lower his monthly
payments. This affected everything with his finance company,

Now all he wants is the maney ta pay his out of pocket expanszes.

UNDER CROSS EXAM FROM MR. STOTSCHEK

150

151.

152
133.
164.

158.

156.
157.

158.

158,

YWas he at first interested in replacing his van{Dodge)} with another vehicle for
fuel economy and lower payments. Yes

wWhen he locked on the internat and entered his information and included his
name, address, SIN, and phone number the form also asked if he had a trade-
in and he enterad his van info as a trade-in? Yes

Did he one week |ater receive a phone call from Express Auto, caller unknown,
responding fo his intemet entry. Yes '

Had he been in a Consumer proposal since 2015; for approximately one year at
the time he was searching the internet for a vehicle. yes

He never sought advice from Consumer proposal on this matter with Express
Auto. he never hears from them.

He confirms his understanding of the proposal; they consolidate all credit cards
and debfs to one and they arrange documentation to cne payment. They take
care of everything.

The Dodge Caravan payments were $264/month o Eastside, a lease was
provided through TCL.

Did he understand that if he did not make payment or doesn't want the vehicle,
he was told by TCL that he must pay the full price? Yes

He drove his dodge fo Express Aufo on his first visit to Express Auio.

Mr. Stotschek makes some Signature Comparisons of JJiill's signature on P.
22 and 32:

21




160.

161,

162.

163.

184.

165.

166.

167.

- P, 32 B2-worksheet, Nov 19, 2016 jj confirmed highlighted area not
his signature under things promised but not in writing, including a
protection package, extended warranty plus an all deposits non-
refundable clause. Big cross out for frade; he was notified on this
date Express nof interested in trade.

- Confirmed he maybe doesn't remember signing this?
- P.22, B1is definitely his signature.

Dodge Caravan payments were $284/month v Chevy for less money and wife
not needed to co-sign. He wanted fo build his credit.

Anne at TCL phoned il She was nice and calm and wanted to know why he
had stopped payment. She didn't mention fraud or that Express acted incorrectly

or against the law.

She only mentioned tojii] that Express Auto had misrepresented false things.

I asked her what to do and where to go and she recommended AMVIC. He
didn't call Edmonton, but first he spoke to an unknown person, then Il

He remembers another conversation with Express Auto he does nof know who
with. He doesn't remember a conversation with, Mr. Stotschek. :

He shaows Mr. ] two Exhibits:

- Tab B8, P. 74 - Completed Bill of sale, and points out second bill of
sale P. 32, and 74.

- He compares signatures and suggest that ] signed 32.

- does not acknowledge for sure that he signed it but JIl] says
that it iz definitely his signature on page 74.

I acknowledges there is na infarmation on the van whatsoever on
either page.

Bryce talked to TCL and recommended to stop payment? - He said not fo worry,

I never sold used vehicles privately or traded in used vehicles before - He
is not sure if his credit was affected by TCL Canadian fitle loans who finance
Chevy. He is not sure if his credit with TCL was affected. Consumer Proposal
has not informed him of any info to that effect.
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168.

. 169.

170.

171.

He is out of $6007 - Approximately.

Questions from Panegl-payments were less for a more expensive car? - Yes,
confirmed.

Suggested: you could have extended van payments, but no one gave that
direction.

Mr. Stotschek suggested a dealership can’t do re-financing; only a finance Go.
can.

QUESTIONS FROM THE PANEL

172.

173

174,

When you first attended at Express, the Malibu paperwork was ready? — Yes
When you left the van, you thought this was in trade for your new car. Yes

Within two weeks after the Express Auto visit, you went to the bank and canceled
his Dodge van payments? Yes
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IR ORAL EVIDENCE
UNDER DIRECT EXAM BY MS. HALE

175.
176.
177,

178.

179.
180.

181.

182.

183.

His Background currently is AMVIC manager of investigations, south, and a

_ Peace Officer.

At the time of Express Auto’s investigation, he was an investigator. He started
in 2016 in South Region.

Previously, I he served with Calgary police service, I
]
In I s bcontracted in safety & Security in BC.

He moved to AB i =nd successfully applied for a position at

ANVIC
1

He was asked about his Conduct Background in Calgary with the police.

» He Received complaint in jiif - Not sustained, no finding of faulf on
his part.

»« Reprmands:

« [received written warning for missing court; and
Il received wriften waming for failing to follow directions.

» He says his Calgary Police Service Career was exemplary, anything
over - 200 does not require an explanation.

AMVIC typical complaint process:

» There is a YWebsite, but usually a cail comes fo Consumer Services
Office (CSO) in Edmonton.

Consumer Service Officer takes the calls as an inifial dlrectugatekeeper lowr
threshold without access to mediation. CSO level:
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184,

165.

» Talks to Complainant;
s Determines nature of complaint;
» Asks complainant for documents; and

+ Provides statement.

If CSO believes this is under the AMVIC jurisdiction, they ldentify the dealership,
send a letter of notice to dealership that they have received a complaint, and
give theim time to respond and provide documentation. Once they receive
inforrmation from the dealership, they review information and work with the

_ supplier to try to find solution via only via their own ADR, as guickly as possible.

On the other hand, if there is no response, issue escalates to be assigned to
Seniar. manager of investigation.

In this case, there was a response.

136.

187.

188.

189.

120

191

192,

Here, the C50 determined sufficient cause.

Senior manager of investigations, in 2018, received many complaints, now he
receives 3-10 complaints a week electronically.

It gets reviewed by the manager of investigations to determine whether it
should be reviewed by an investigator.

Manager of investigations can determine complaint

s Not sufficient, or
* No jurisdiction.

If otherwise, manager enters it into our computer system.

He reviews file, picks who to assigned it to, then assigns it to Senior manager's
assistant who provides all the background work where they pull up:

« Business documents;
=«  Previous case files: and
» Relevant infarmation on sales people.

Assignment based on:

s Caseload-biggest criteria,
= intricacies of complaint, and
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193,

194.

195.

196.

197,

198.

199.

200.

201.

« background of investigator.
Director of FTA at that time was John SYE-

He was not involved in this investigation; only manager of investigation directed
him.

He investigated this complaint, completed investigation. He determines if he
finds violation wfin regulatory jurisdiction based on whether they have any
sufficient evidence to proceed with any further action.

They consider a progressive enfoercement concept based on:

s How egregious the compiaint;

» How many complaints against this dealership;
o s it a first-time event; and

» s it the same complaint over and over?

‘They consider quality of the evidence which determines the enforcement

avenue:

From simple to worst the results are:

« find no evidence to support, complaint and clesing letters sent to
parties;

= Vifritten warning sent;

+ Recommendation for administrative review,

s [Lay charges under the Act; and

+ Lay criminal charges.

Investigator can make decision to move forward: close file, reprimand,
adrinistrative review, and penalty but he does not have final say.

If he moves forward fo administrative review the Registrar can enfer into
undertaking.

Recommendation for prosecution means a recommendation for summons under
Provincial sfatute, e.g. CPA, Traffic Safety Act, and criminal offence. AMVIC [ays
charges but does not directly prosecute; only Crown prosecutors do.

Curber, not authorized to deal autos, was only the prosecution with AMVIC. They
pled guilty and paid a fine.
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202.

203.

204.

205.

206.

207.

208.

208,

210.

211.

212.

i this case, form of recomimendation takes:

« Application to administrative review in computer system;
= Manager reviews it, if agrees; and
« Forwarded to the senior manager of investigation, if agrees.

It goes to someone else and results in a Hearing in front of registrar, who is
delegated by Director of FTA.

Tab B - application put into system, goes in the application report with attached
chronology and evidence.

One signature enly of Senior manager of Investigation, not the manager of
investigation who's only job is to forward to it to Senior manager. '

Moving forward is determined by content and oufcome of recommendation
based on a review of all aspects of investigation.

B recommendation was for an undertaking, not an administrative
penalty.

And compensation owed to il of $652.60 to be paid.

The cost of investigation is unknown, it is with regisfrar and her summation, and
not provided until review to respondent relevant fo the AMVIC request cost

recovery of investigation.
I ccommendation was an undertaking, not an administrative penalty.

His opinion was based on the history of company, all relevant infermation found,
and thare was cooperation of company.

Matters that required attention were:

.« Accurate information relevant to their records to outside parties in their
records.
+ Improve Accurate information provided to dealer track for financing
« Do not offer any advice fo consumer as fo how to get out of lease
regarding vehicles not taken on frade .
+ Follow-up inspection to ensure undertaking was being acted on and
confarming to legislation i.e. compensation fo complainant;
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213.

214.

215,

216.

217.

= Cost owed to the complainant
« Cost of investigation in event it was recoverable (Page 15 of B, R2 April

281, 2017).

Investigation Chronology is set outin R2 B 16 to 21, dated April 27", 2017.

« P. 16 contains an executive chronolegy summary 2; and
« P.17 to 21 has a more detailed chronology of all events.

January 3, 2017 - I received file, spoke to Compliance officer, Ross
Lester, he advised Chevy did not show up on his Credit Bureau and TCL won't
let him out of lease. He has insured and registered the Chevy. He sent email to

complainant, Il

He spoke fo Anne of TCL who advised there was lease viclation with
complainants Dodge lease enfered into June 18, 2015, a 60-month term on a
Dedge caravan. She also advised that [ was in a consumer proposal.

She provided:

s Tab B3 — ihe email from Anna at TCL to Shaun with payout statement
on the Dodge as requested by Express Auto showing balance
remaining of $23,123,65

+ Tab4 Shaun's phone request for a buyout on Dodge to TCL, the emaldl
and payout details sent by TCL to Express Auto, Shaun on November

22mM, 2016

I 2d an audio interview with Il on Jan 4, 2017. He summarizes:
I is in a consumer proposal, he has had the Dodge for over a year, Nov 18,

Bryce at Express Auto fold him he had a good deal.

I cads s statement:

‘Wl was hoping to get a new car, possibly with a trade in. He signed the
contract and Bryce erased trade-in fn front of him and said na trade-in
was going to happen [Jilj should talk to Shaun who teld him to call TCL
to pick up the van. JRdid not request a buy-out quote for the van. He
was about to sign the release papers and Express Auto said they would
clean up the car; they put in a remote starter. Express Auto said to ignore
the interest rate; it would change. jJjjjjjj believes that Express Auto knew
he was in a consumer proposal. He didn't fell them he had been leasing
the van for a month. Bryce removed the trade-in. on the contract. Shaun
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218.

2189.

220.

221.

222.

223.

224,

told I to call TCL to pick up the van. il was depending on what
thay told him; ha told them he couldn’t afford 2 cars. 3 days after he made
the deal; he was advised to open up a new account and stop payment on
the Dodge on the day he bought the Chevy. He drove the Chevy 2 weeks
and made one payment on it. He said he made mistake, lack of

knowledge.”

Tab 2 of tab B has addifional documents provided by Express Auto that were
not provided in their original response. He received these documents in the
presence of Mr. Humber, in his office. They are pages 29 te 39. They show
Shaun requesting cheque for i to cover the first two payments on Chevy,
document 32, a bill of sale dated November 19%, 2016 (the same date as bill of

sale page 74 for same vehicle).

P. 34 is a document provided by Shaun Naugler, finance Manager of Express,
providing his notes of the situation as of January 4. Also, included is the Equifax
report he provided showing no balance owing on the dodge on November 18t
2016.

Just two days later, Shaun, on November 215t sought a buyout staiement an the
Dodge and received it the same day. The consumer proposal was entered into
one month after the Dodge was purchased. Shaun states Trustee said they
would absorb the amount owing on the van into the proposal.

I rovided his trustee information. Express Auto contacted TCL and says
they did not tell il to stop payment or switch banks. He then spoke to Smith,
Cagearge, Bailey, SCB, representafives of Jillilill’ consumer proposal. He does
not have o tell anyone of the consumer proposal. She has not had contact with
him since Deceimber 2015. SCB called 4 Pillars-Co. that put proposal together.
She will check to see if there were any calls at that time.

I =roke to Shaun and confirmed deal on November 181, 2016.

He tried to determine who at Express Auto spoke fo trustee  and gave advice
to roll van debt into the proposal te prove truthfulness.

P. 19, Jan 27 S spoke to Candice Martinez, assistant from SCB. She s
authorized to give information fo a select few. She verified the Express Auto call.
She gave basic information regarding a consumer proposal and claimed she
would never roll a debt of the van into a consumer propesal; she then provided
a written statement of her interaction (See tab 11 last paragraph).
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225. However, she said she can’t stop a consumer from entering into anather loan.

2286.

227,

228.

220,

230.

231.

232

233,

That's not their function or role.

« Tah B-11-last paragraph is her written statement to this effect.

= Tab BS, p. 46 is her Call history

= At p. 48, SCB Express 403-258-0192, Candice's extension [l
shows she received the call November 181, 2018,

These calls were to determine if somecne had called to confirm NS
consumer proposal in order to confirm truthfulness of inforimation given to him.

At p. 50 - there is a copy of consumer proposal provided by SCB.

At p. 54 the summary shows that ] has a monthly surplus/deficit in his family
unit of $10.07.

After JEEEl spoke to Candice it informed his opinion. It confirmed Shaun’s
note that he did speak to them and confirmed there was a difference between
what he says he was tald by an unknown person and Candice's statement,

Between Jan 4 and 27, p. 18:

= After speaking to Shaun, he called il on 1/8/17. Jll never got
name of Trustee who stated he was never a part of the conversation

at the dealership.

= Jan 11-advised Trustee that people had no knowledge of call because
he had called 4 Pillars instead. And 4 Pillars have nothing to do with

Candice.
= [ only told Bryce the trustee company name.

Bryce and Josh, finance manager, both involved in talking at some stage with
I no longer work at Express Auto. Bryce is at a different dealership. IR
was never able to talk to Josh.

Bryce did call back the trustee Friday and Saturday but both 4 Pillars and SCB-
were not opean.

Shaun dealt with the trustee and told Bryce to go ahead with deal.
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234.
235.
2386.
237

238

Break

239,

240.

241,

The transaction happened during Xmas party- for Express Auto. People could
not believe it couid go ahead.

1/30 - TCL- il spcke to Ann K. and confirmed details of request by
Express for a buyout statement.

This Equifax report was ordered by Shaun. Equifax - P. 35 Shows the Crux in
transaction was the Equifax errors i.e. show no debt on van, only leasing defail.

P. 37, shows TCL $33,000, as 2015 amount owing, but. $C balance due was
circled. This document came from dealership.

Jan 31 - contacted TCL, and spoke to Isabelle of collections:

= Express Auto said they had no frade-in vehicle and they were not
aware of the reverse equity, which would he generated from the
vehicle he was leasing. She noted the insurance on the Chevy was
cancelled Jan 12, 2017 and she does net know about the funding. She
was in the process of having the vehicle removed from the dealership.

« Express Auto had the car af their location.

+ TCL Ann prepared buyout guote for Dodge and provided it via e-mail
an November 215,

» Tab 4, p. 43-msg left by Shaun who noted JJll’s payout. Ann's
evidence that Shaun called on November 18 and requested buyout.

« Tab 3, p. 42 buyout quote on van

+ Tab B p. 19, Jan 31-Ms Martinez assistant at SCB who spoke to
Express.

February 1, J spcke to Mr. Stotschek about TCL repossessing car.
I soid this limits opportunity to try any ADR. Mr. Stotschek said car had
been picked up. :

Discussed possible violations of 5. 6 of FTA known or ought to have known.

Mr. Stotschek was to provide written response with dealings with TCL and I
at an unknown date. I was not sure when because of the audio video

interview afterwands.
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B12 - only initial response from Mr. Stotschek {page 89},
B (reading his summary of conversation) TGL Jordan Gautier.

Tab BS-response from Jordan Gautier is the same as the summary plus
an incurred loss of $27,000.

242, February 7 - had an audio video interview with Mr. Stotschek at AMVIC
- 70 mins,

243. I Summary of Stotschek:

Dealership does not decide whether a person qualifies for financing; it is
not a financial institution;

Dealership cannot be held accountable for their decision to finance the
deal; and

The law about “knowing or not knowing” should be changed as the
decision is not ours.

244. February 10-he received signed statement from Jordan Gautier.

245. March 22-he reviewed a statement from Bryce and noted wrong dates; left a
rmessage to cali him.

246. March 23 — He met with Bryce, summary:

I mentioned Consumer proposal;

Gayve contact to Shaun information for Consumer proposal,

Woarksheet is Shaun’s writing {page 32},

Remoie car starter Bryce's wiiting {page 31};

Van suppased to be on deal, no thanks;

Shaun said he talked to consumer proposal lady and she said she would
take it into proposal. Bryce thought this strange. Pre-approval in place;
Witnessed Shaun call for lease pay-out, and

Surrendered vehicle to TCL.

247. This confirms he knew about van, consumer propesal and the call about the
pay-out, being in new office.
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2448,

249,

250Q.

201.

252

293.

254,

255

258.

257.

258.

259,

260

I rcouested a writfen statement from Bryce but did not receive it despite
being told one was coming.

He called gl for statement about financial losses from this transaction. He
needed more fime and eventually Il sent it to him. - $652 .62 loss.

Mr. Stotschek provided the Dealer Track information, that is companies that
approved or did not approve finance - 5 of & finance companies did approve.

Dealer Track is system the auto industry uses to put consumers to several
financial institutions that they know, to see if they are willing to write up a loan.

B6 - no back page that had notes-.6 diff finance Cos looked at the deal , nof all
appraved. This is a dealer track document. No back page to it. A better copy of
the page can be found at R4,

It is an Important document. The information verifies the information entered -
into Dealer frack document provided by Express and responded to on behalf of

DMS initials - ], Nov 22, 2016 by Shaun, shows date-time modifted; [N
doesn’t believe that date is initial date.

It shows that at least TCL approved financing.

Explains ariginal doc; out of 6, who responded o doc, 5 have appeared fo have
approved.

New R4 - p. 2 of 55 in RZ2 - Loss calculation based on these docs.
I recommendations can be found on page 15/186:

« Undertaking with 6 conditions;

« Follow-up inspection in 6 months;

« Based on paperwork, salesmen and finance mangers recollection of
events were unclear; and

» Dealership is responsible to keep accurate records.

He recommended review to confirm compliance in every aspect.

Admin review in 7/17 - Undertaking not agreed to, no idea what happened.
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261.

262,

263.

264,

2685,

266.

267,

288.

269,

270.

271.

272.

Express Auto would not accept the undertaking.

Express is subject to inspection. AMVIC inspectors contact investigators if there
is an open investigation.

Inspectors’ job is to visit dealerships and check auto recordkeeping to ensure
licensed businesses are following legislation e.g., advertising is following CPA.
This group enforces undertaking

I cannot and did not direct inspections; only the Manager of inspections
and staff directs as they see fit. D04 - inspection document, May 2017 provided

by Exprass Auto.

Inspector Checks with investigator in order to not interfere with ongoing
investigation.

Investigation occurred with no major issues; does not surprise [N - he has
no apinion.

I s oke to number of people and did not Charter caution people, because
he was not conducting a criminal investigation; he did nct feel there were
reasonable and probable grounds. Otherwise, if he did, if taking statement, he

wolld caution.

There was no recommendation for action against any individual.

He read Cuff repart which is an industry audit done on AMVIC. It refers fo
training. He read it to prepare for interview, re what a senior manager is

responsible for.

No one directed him ever in his investigation, including Brenda Chomey and
including the ragistrar.

Express Auto, their GM and compliance officer were fully cooperative and put
up no roadblocks.

He and Mr. Stotschek ended up with differing opinions.
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UNDER CROSS EXAM BY MR. STOTSCHEK

273

274.

275.

He Recaps I backyround; and suggests AMVIC world is very different
from police world, Ja9r2es.

He says the outcome was jjijcould not afford fwo vehicles. He points out that
Smith Cageorge, Bailey in comespondence from Kandice Martinez, the trustee
provided copy of 4 Pillars document showing that there was a $10 monthly

surplus. See page 88 and page 54)

S. 2 B2, p. 35 - <P 2ins he does not know how this is calculated or who
gets to see this, P. 54, Stotschek suggests that the lender gives financing, NOT
Express and that Equifax refers to consumer proposals.

Panel infervenes to warn of irelevant questioning.

276,

277,

278.

279,

280.

No real response noted.,
Stotschek then reads - AMVIC policy D02, P. 20

2.1.11 - reads AMVIC Service policy fiom website, when investigator believes a
matiter may likely result in administrative review or laying of charges, officer may
obtain a caution or written statement, where reasonable to do in circumstances.

I - oints out there are many other options besides criminal prosecution
as above-mentioned e.g. verbal, written warning and administrafive review.

He points out the FTA/CPA, authorizes investigation under section 145, No
license search was done, but docurments already in system were provided.

Panel stops Mr. Stofschek ‘s cross mainly on two grounds. He was giving evidence
himself nof cross-examining, and his comments and questions were Irrefevant. This is
a new friaf, with a new decision in front of a new Panel.

UNDER REDIRECT FROM MS HALE

281.

The Equifax report indicated Consumer proposal, s. 2, p. 39 under dispositions
proposals and bankruptcies -Equifax report provided by dealer? Yes
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ORAL CLOSING STATEMENTS

FOR AMVIC BY MS. HALE

282

283.

284.

285

286,

287,

288.

289,

280

291.

202

She wants to touch on her written overview. Exhibit R3 and speak to
legislation.

The purpose we are here today is why AMVIC exists, why the auto industry is
regulated.

New name Consumer Protection Act indicates the purpose of the statute more
clearly, to protect unsuspecting consumers from potentially adverse effects of
uncenscientious suppliers of goods and services.

We can all agree thaf- had very poor judgement in executing the contract
she wants.

But he is the classic vulnerable population that the legislation is targeied to
protect

Three provisions of the Act under Unfair practices have been engaged:

5. 8(3) - unfair practice that supplier knew or ought tc have known;

5. 6(4){a) - which says that anything to mislead consumer here, with the
characterization of the deal and how il could or should deal with the
financing of Dodge; and

S. 6{d)(b} - opinion was relied on,

Here clearty ] relied on the dealership

Finally, the imposition of an administrative penalty.

There is authority for an administrative penalty
The Yicarious Liability section also applies

Here, we have regulaiory acfion against a licensed business that is both
responsible and accounfable, that is Express Aufo.
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293.

294.

295.

2986,

297.

298,

204,

300.

Auto is not the most regulated industry, but it still is fairly regulated by several
different regulations under the Fair Trading Act. The regulations clarify the
Commaon Law and cases decided under it.

You decide on the balance of probabilities, i.e. you don’t have to conclude all
employees knew or ought to have known.

Only look at evidence, make a reasonable assessment. Bring your comman
sanse as members of the public to weigh in on the evidence before you.

She reminds we have evidence of the following:

Shaun:
»  Knew il was in another lease,

» He called about and got the buy-out infermation;

= " His name is in Dealer Track;

= He had Equifax report - p. 39 and knew it was wrong,
»  Whether it was fraudulent, is up to TCL; and

=  He knew $26,000 was owing on van.

»  Admits he didn’t know how il 90t funded;
=  Sigred the bill of sale; and
= Knew il was in consumer proposal.

Both Shaun and Bryce knew or ought to have known il could not afford two
vehicles. They knew he wanted a less expensive vehicle.

5 6-3, 6-4 are not about whether Express should have financed

No doubt Express could not finance vehicle but sold it anyway, that is the
reason for this hearing.

Let us look at the motivation of i He had nothing to gain, he has moved
on. . '

See Tab B11 - Smith Baily report - nothing to gain or lose in the
transaction, hearing and proceedings.
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301.

J02.

303.

304,
305
306.
307.

308.

It was not evidenced that Sean was an actual rogue employee. Nevertheless, it
doesn’t matter. Express Auto is responsible for their employees and their
actions. Express and any licensed place must have controls in place as safety
checks, so employees are not held responsible. Shaun is still working at Express

Auto.

At end, il wanted fo unwind that contract according fo the FTA; It was not
dene. This is indicative of a larger problem, not a just one rogue employee,

Penalty outstanding:

« New trial is not to upholdfquash Registrar's decision but to authorize
the imposing of the appropriate penalty, and

» According to AMVIC, $5000 registrar’s penalty is reasonable.

Based on:

1-intentional nature of conduct, aimed at legislative intent,
2-continuum allows for $100,000 penalty.

Facts warrant significant penalty to act as a deterrent.

Cases aftached tabs 3 & 4-look at Zane, fine $14,000. No case with analogous
facts. There were more instances, but conduct was not as worthy of sanction as

here today.

Davis GMC Buick Dealerships were in Hat and Lethbridge; they got $S000
adiministrative penpalties. {reads {abs)

Conduct, cutcome and harm here is more severe. She thought fine should be
higher, but il satisfied to uphold registrar's penalty.

She suggests that AMVIC's position is that $5000 very reasonable in context.

FOR EXPRESS AUTO BY MR. STOTSCHEK

308.

310.

311.

ADR attempted by Express Auto, the first avenue they wanted to take

‘Maintains Express has a good background that it is willing to work with customer.

Consumer proposal does not mean you can't enter into new financing.
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312
313.

314.

313,

316.

317

318.

319.

320.

321.

322.

323.

324.
325

326.

He suggests ] was confused and distraught.
Panel advises him te deal only with the evidence and not te give evidence

I /2= under impression it was an automatic trade-in despite bill of sale and
worksheets that do not show van anywhere.

Express has implemented certain training and put pieces into play to deal with

these inpidents.

I wanted fo build up his credit and remove wife as co-signer; Express got
him into a unit. 5/8 applications approved ll’s finance appiication. Why "
not approved, evidence not produced.

Shaun is the only salesman that still remains; Bryce and Josh are gone.
Suggests that with lack of fraining some people didn't know what they were
looking at including Shaun, despite some due diligence.

I assumed van trade-in was included, despite not appearing on paper.

Admin penalty precedents were where both companies were given
warningsfopportunities fo correct behavior detrimental to consumer

Express wants to come forward and issue statement of regref; they saw it and
now know how to deal with it.

Express has cheque for $600 and claims intention to pay him now; earlier
payment wolid have been an admission of guilt.

Express complied with recent inspection which gave .it a pass.

Finance managers-receive no outside training; only as good as who is already
there.

Panel must laok at why 5 of 6 would make that decision with the credit report.
Express Auto stopped offence immediately when AMVIC investigated.

Statement of regret issued at hearing, re-calculation and redirection to prevent
reoccurrence was ultimate goal.
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327.

J286.

328.

a30.

He suggests $5000 is high amount. Punitive actien is warranted for regulated
companies that did not take action. According to the progressive enforcement
maodel, lasser penalties were availabie. '

Once issue was identified by both AMVIC & Express, things were immediately
implemented. Inspection on May 3 indicates Express is on correct path and will
confinue to be so. Express has a Compliance officer and, internal audits are
done to ensure against negligence of a transient population of employees. Here
two individuals left. While there is maoney to be made, the consumer must be
treated fairly first and foremost.

Express reached out to - At this point he didn't want to talk te anyone.

Statement of regret issued twice at hearing, but notin evidence?

Eebuital by Ms. Hale

Ms. Hale

- Mr. Stotschek made assertions on Shaun’s behalf, unfortunateiy
Shaun is not here.
- I has not received the cheque.
- 5/6 approved anly because Equifax report was wrong, said $0
- owing.
- Mr. Stotschek didn't acknowledge that Express declined an
undertaking, which was lower on the enforcement model.

Response by Mr. Stotschek

- Wants to discard Ms. Hale’s Equifax comment, because it was a
guess.

- He states that Express did not agree to the undertaking because he
mainfaing it was not adjusted where it could have been.

- Decision is due 45 days from when this hearing ends as long as no
further documents are produced. Therefore, the due date is June

25, 2018.
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DECISION OF THE APPEAL

The Panel CONFIRMS the Decision of the Director of Fair Trading (as delegated)
dated October 181, 2018 pursuant to section 178 of the FTA in finding Express Auto

breached sections 6(3)(b), 6{4}a) and 6(4){b).

The Panel CONFIRMS the imposition of the administrative penalfy of $5000.
As a result, the balance of the administrative penalty is due to be paid immediately

and the Panel orders the Appellant to pay Mr. ] the amount of $652.62 which it
owes him.
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FINDINGS OF FACT

Steven Humber is registered at AMVIC as the licensee and business operator
of 1879745 Alkerts Ltd, which operates as Express Aute Sales Calgary (the

Appellant).

Steven Humber signed the Appeal notice together with his agent/representative,
Ralph Stotschek.

Stotschek acting as compliance officer for Landsperg, 50% owner of Express
was personally involved in the investigation of Jillll’s compiaint.

Stotschek in and around early 2017 provided his own version of the facts and

motivation for the complaint by il (page 89} to I 2nd represented
Express and Landsperg in the administrative review of July 2017. He examined

and was examined by various parties.

Prior to that Siotschek had worked as an investigator for AMVIC in Calgary. He
is a retired police officer.

This involvement of Stofschek led to a Decision of the Panal to allow Mr.
Stotschek to act as agent representing the Appellant at the appeal hearing,
subject to conditions which Mr. Stotschek accepted in writing.

The Panel rejects Stotschek's factually unsupported inferpretation of events
{page 89) surrounding the sale of the Malibu to Il at Express Auto.

In the absence of any contrary oral evidence from Express af the hearing, the
Panel accepts the evidence of Mr. il and the findings of Mr. -

Where Stotschek purports to assign motives to TCL and il for complaining
to AMVIC, the Panel dismisses them and relies on the oral evidence of Il
and written evidence of TCL (at page 87).

Stotschek did not attermnpt to cross examine il on his alleged motivation for
bringing a complaint.

Shaun Naugler, Bryce, Josh and Steven Humber all worked at Express Auto in
2016,

Express Auto is vicariously liable for their conduct.

Mr. il relied on all of them directly at different times in his 2016 dealings with
Express Auto.

Shaun Naugler is still employed at Express Auto.
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The complaint of ] was against Express Auto and Steven Humber. Express
Aufo however provided no oral evidence at the Hearing te contradict the
evidence of ] or I - Yet Mr. Humber was in aftendance throughout the

hearing.

The Panel accepts the fact finding of Mr. JEl in his carefully presented
report and his time line of events with supporting documents, all found in Exhibit

RZ. and as set out in his oral evidence.

The Panel accepts the evidence of Jjjjjjj surrounding his dealings in 2016 with
Express Aufo and its employees and his  dealings with Anne Kolodynsky, sales
manager and iease administrator of TCL Corp. {see page 87).

M J, the complainant
] _

English is not his first language. He is mainly employed GGG

In 2018 prior to his involvement with Express Auto, JIlll had entered into a
Consumer proposal to consolidate his debt. He had a trustee. His only asset
listed was his Leased Dodge caravan. He and his wife were consigners on its

lease with TCL.

His consumer proposal showed just over $10 as the disposable family income
at the end of each month. For Jllll{pages 46 to 54).

The administrator of his consumer proposal was Kandice Martinez of Smith
Cageorge Bailey Inc. {see January 30™, 2017 report provided to . raoe
83). :

I had no day fo day correspondence or contact with his consumer proposal
company.

In Novemnber 2016 hr. JJill wanted to trade in his lzased Dodge Caravan for a
vehicle with better gas mileage and lower monthly payments.

He alsc wanted to obtain a lease without his wife co-signing so that he could
develop his own credit

He inever wanted to own two cars because he could hardly afford to pay for one,
as shown by his consumer propoesal. consumer proposal.

I had nof traded in a vehicle before November 2016

His whole dealings with Express Auto occurred between November 18 2017,
his first visit, and November 22™ when the sale to him of a Chevy Malibu was

finalized.
43




358.

360.

361.

362.

363.

364.

365.

366.

367.

368.

369.

370.

371.

372

373,

Following that date, he spent two more weeks involved with Express Auto trying
to extricate himself from the mess of finding himself the owner of two cars with

two car lease payments due.
His relationship with Express started from an online form.

had gane online on Canada Drives sometime before November 16" and
submitted an online credit application.

He had provided all his personal informafion online, including his SIN number,
name, address and phone number.

The form asked if he had a car he wantfed to trade in and he marked ﬁes,
referring to his Dodge caravan.

About a week later Express Auto contacted him by phone through Canada
Drives and invited him in to the Dealership. They said they had a deal for him
and could help him. He is not sure of the name of the person whe phoned.

He does not know which of the employeses he spoke to on that day.
Mr. il had not heard of Express Auto before the phone call.
I relied upon Express Auto and what the employees told him.
Express Auto seeks out clients for used cars on Canada Drives.

Express Auto knew a great deal about Jjjjjif before he came into the dealership.
They knew encugh to have some paperwork prepared for the sale of a Malibu

Chevwy car to him.

At their invitation Jjjiiicame inio Express Auto on November 16", 2016 and
stared to negotiate with Bryce, one of the salesman, to trade in his Dodge
Caravan. He test drove a 2015 Chevy Malibu for which paperwork was already

prepared.
I diove his Dodge to Express Auto.

I iold them he wanted cheaper payments and better fuel mileage. He told
them he wanted io trade in his Dodge

I told them from the beginning that he was in a consumer proposal to
coordinate his debts. He gave them the phone number and name of his trustee

for the proposal.

They already knew that he had a lease on his Dodge.
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He found they already knew about the proposal.

The payments on the Malibu would be less.

I s2id he wanted a trade in.

He left his Dodge af Express Auto and drove away in the Malibu.

On November 181 an unidentified person fram Express Auto, most likely Shaun
Naugler (See page 34) contacted the trustee of ] and the frustee, Smith
Cagecrge Bailey, provided basic information in relation fo llls financial
position and the proposal (See B tab 12 page 88).

Shaun stated in a note written January 7™ as his response fo the investigation
that the person he spoke to at the trustees safd the outstanding amount of the
debt on the Dodge could be rolled into the proposal (see pages 34 and 38},

The trustee contradicted this on January 30 (see page 88} that she never made
such a statement buf in fact stafed the reverse. She said she received the call

on November 1810,

The Panel accepts the trustees’ version of events as provided by Kandice
Martinez in her January 30" note to Mr. N (page 88).

On November 18 Shaun ordered an Equifax report on Mr. Jilll that wrongly
showed 0 balance due on the Dodge. Express Auto knew that was wrong. The
report also showed a $33,000 initial value in 2015 which could not have been

paid down by 2016 to zero.

On November 19 Shaun left a phone message with Anne at TCL, the leasing
company for the Dodge, and asked for a buyout quote on the Dodge (zee page

43).

She provided it on November 215 fo Shaun Naugler by email (see page 40 to
A2).

The amcunt outstanding on the buyout report was $23,123.55.

Shaun and Bryce knew from the beginning that jJjiiillhad ancther leased car.
They knew he was in a consumer proposal. The},r knew from his Canada drives

information that he wanted a trade in.
I never asked for a buy out statement from TCL.

Express Auto knew by November 18" at least, that il could not make
payments on fwo cars or certainly they ought to have known that from the
information they had collected on him.
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I signed the coniract af Express Auto on November 19" far the Matibu. The

contract was drawn up by Bryce. After ] signed it Bryce crossed out the
trade in part on the contract out and said there will be no trade in and that he

could be approved without a trade in. They could get financing. {See} pages 32
and 74.

There are two bills of sale dated November 19", 2016. gill] says it is notf his
signature on page 32 but it has his signature on page 74.

The bill of sale at page 74 comes fram TCL, the finance company for the sale of
the Malibu.

The hill of sale at page 22 comes from documents provided by Express Auto.

Mr. Stotschek cross examined [Jjilj on the signature issue and suggested he
did sign page 32. ] s2id he may have but he did not think so.

In her direct, Ms. Hale had showed Jiil] his signature on page 22 in the TCL
documents, and he confirmed that was his signature, the same as on page 74.

Ceitainly, the Panel finds il signed the bill of sale on page 74.
specifically remembers the bill of sale on page 32, because he remembers Biryce

crossing out the trade in part.

The contract signing occurred an the day of the Xmas party af Express Auto.

Throughout his dealings with Shaun, Bryce, Jash or Mr. Humber, il fotally
depended upon them for their advice.

Bryce told him, once you signed you are stuck with the car.

Bryce told il they could get financing for the car for him. They would help
him.

Shaun had passed the deal on fo  six possible finance companies the request
to finance the Malibu, through Deal Tracker.

Shaun provided the Equifax report with the clear mistake showing a zero-
balance due on the Dodge {page 55).

CLT accepted to finance and the deal closed on November 22"

Express Auto did not advise CLT that ] sfill had outstanding obligations

© under the TCL lease.

Express Auto knew that the Equifax report was not frue. They had asked for a
buyout statement. November 18th
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Jaudin Gauthier of TCL with whom Express Auto had said they could finance

the Malibu for ] to!d I that he would not have issued a loan to I
knowing that he had current alternate financing with another institution (see page

86).

Express Auto knew or should have known CTL would not finance if they had
the correct information when going through dealer frack to obtain financing for

I on the Malibu.
Express Auto had the correct information.

Shaun Nuagler's name is on the Dealer track report that identified GTL as a
possible financier of the Malibu.

Shaun knew that il was making payments on the Dodge. He had ordered a
buyouf report showing $23,000 still owing.

Shaun had ordered the Equifax which he knew was wrong and provided the
document showing zero balance owing, to CLT.

I was not involved in any of that,

Before compieting the deal, Express Auto had a great deal of information an
Bl laroely collected by Shaun. '

The deal closed an the November 22™, 2016. Bryce was the closing saiesman.

'R helieved they would manage fo finance the saie, when they would not take

his car for a trade in.

I s2id to them [ cannot afford payments on two cars.

I asked Bryce what he should do. il still thought they were helping hm.
Bryce said talk to Shaun, he will tell you.

Shaun told R the Malibu was his car and to tell TCL that the Dodge was at
Express Auto, come and pick it up, stop the payments, close the bank account
and open another one to pay the Malibu payments from.

On caompleting the deal, Express Auto gave il @ chegue for 432.20 for first
two biweekly payments (page 29).

Il drove the Malibu for two weeks.

He left his Dodge at Express Auto.
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Mr. il remained worried about his Dodge Van. He was very botherad. He felf
very uncomfortable about the whole thing.

He spoke to Mr. Humber who said you are stuck with the deal. The Malibu is
your car.

By December 6" il kept getting calls from TCL about payments on his
Dodge.

The financing of the Malibu fell through when CTL found out about the debt still
owing on the Dodge and refused te fund the deal.

Shaun Naugler remains an employee of Express. He knew or ought fo have
known that the Equifax report provided to CTL was wrong.

The information provided by Anne Kolodynsky's of TCL to Shaun on November
214 contradicted the Equifax report cbtained by Express Auto.

On Dealer Track, Shaun idenfifies five companies willing to finance IS
Malibu purchase. {see page 55). TCL says they will finance it.

CTL had an Equifax report from Express Auto that was wrong and no information
that payments were still owed on the Dadge.

Express Auto enteied into a sales contract for the 2015 Chevy Malibu on
November 221, 2017 when theyr knew or ought to have known that. ] could
not pay.

CTL relies on the dealer to input client information and in this case, CTL relied
on the Equifax Report showing $0.00 balance on the Dodge Caravan.

Express Auto knew that br. JJjjilliwas in a consumer proposal and that at least
$23,000 remained ocwing on his dodge.

When the financing fell through on the Malibu, il was left with a car Express
Auto said he owned and that they would not take as a trade in.

By December 6 TCL contacted il and asked about his nonpayment. and
asked what was happening. ] had followed Shaun’s advice and stopped

payment on the dodge.

Anne Kolodynski also called Shaun who had asked for payout statement on
November 180, 2017.

Shaun advised her then that TCL had not financed Il -
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Anne talked to ] and phoned Express Auto again. Anne spoke to Josh at
express Auto. She found him fo be very glib (page 87).

I vas frightened of a repossession. He was very bothered. He thought It
could impact his consumer proposal.

Anne then advised il to return the Malibu within the windew of fime of two
weeks and fo return the keys to Express Aufo, which he did, on December 70
leaving the uncashed cheque for the first two payments and the keys with Josh.

Josh was angry with him and said i is your car. He did not want to accept it back.
On January 27", 2017 CTL repossessed the Malibu from Express Auto.

In February CTL financing company advised that they would not have financed
the car knowing that fhere was another lease with payments still owing by [IIl-

CTL had not been provided with the other information about Josal's ongoing
payments with TCL { page 86). '

The frustee on January 30 advised AMVIC they would never have agreed to
absorbing the TCL payments into the proposal {page §8).

This is in contradiction to the statement of Shaun (see page 34) in which he
stated that when he spoke to the trustee that the “amount owing” could be

absorbed into the proposal {page 34).
The trustee is believed not Express Auto.
Repossession was the very thing il wanted to avoid.

I found that Anne at TCL was calm and an easy person to deal with. He
asked her what he should do. ,

Anne in December advised il about AMVIC and suggested he could file a
complaint, which he did (C page 20).

The Panel rejects Stotschek’s theory in his note at tab 2 provided to I in
the investigation in which he says that Anne at TCL was acting as a jealous rival
financing company trying to influence ] away from Express Auto.

Mr. [ was not cross examined o this theory by Mr. Stofschek.

The Panel accepts the evidence of Jjlllthat he found Anne an easy person to
talk to and, that he asked her for help, and that she told him about AMVIC.

He was very bothered by everything by December.
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In his complaint e xplains how he felt misinformed and cheated, particularly
when he was told about no trade in after he signed the contract (page a0)

The Panel accepts R tHhorough report and findings of fact as set out in
his report on pages 15 to 21 (R2).

It also accepfs his description and explanation of the investigation process of
AMVIC.,

I inds that Il is still owed $652.62 incumred by him as a result of the
transaction with Express Auto.

That figure is made up of one month's insurance for the Malibu, a biweekly
payment and an NSF fee,

I has not yet received the money, although at the hearing, after. I 'eft,
Humber advised the Panel that he had a cheque ready to pay Mr. il and
showed the chegue.

Exhibit A1 and Exhibit marked D4, provided by Express Aufo provides an
inspection report on Express Auto undertaken in May 2017, -

It shows improvement in the running of Express Auto and no major concerns. It
is a positive repart. It gives Express Auto a pass.

Stotschek stated in his closing siatements that “training has been implemented
to put pieces in play to deal with these incidents at the Appellants.”

He acknowledges that the salesmen did not know what they were doing
including Shaun and suggests it was a lack of trainmg.

Those comments are comforting and give some hope for the dealership, but
they are not evidence. No witness gave those statements. Mr. Humber sat right

there and said nofhing.

Stotschek advised that Express Auto wants to issue a statement of regret and
pay il the money owing to him. Mr. Humber did not confirm that as evidence.

Neither of those things happened at the hearing. No witness made those
statements.

The Panel accepts them as an indication of the recognition that improvement
were needed and that the handling of the event that led fo this hearing and

involved i was wrong.
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REASONS FOR THE DECISION

Pursuant to Section 179(8) of the FTA the Appeal hearing that took place on
June 27" 2017 was a new ftrial of the issues before if. _

In reaching its decision the Panel relied upon the oral evidence of Mr. N
and Mr. iiii]. provided during the hearing on May 10™, 2018

The Appellant called no oral evidence.

In addition, the Panel relied upon the relevant documents (documentary
disclosure) that were provided by AMVIC and Express on May 101, 2018 in
Exhibits R1, R2, R4 and Al.

The Statutory sections said to have been breached can be found in Part 2 of the
FTA under the heading Unfair Practices for a supplier. Express Auto is a

supplier.

The sections found fo have been breached are as follows.

SB(3) It is an unfair practice for a supplier

(b} fo enter into a consumer transaction if the supplier knows or
ought to know that there is no reasonable probability that the
consumer is able to pay the full price for the goods or services.

S6(4) Without limiting subsections (2) and (3) the following are unfair
practices if they are directed at one or more potenfial consumners:

{a) A supplier doing or saying anything that might reasonably
deceive or mislead a consumer; and

{b} A suppliers misleading statement of opinion if the consumer is
likely to rely on that opinion to the consumers disadvantage.

The Panel finds clearly from the evidence that breaches of all three sections
have been made out.

There is very clear evidence that Express Aute knew of Jillls intentions before
coming to the dealership, what he had expected to happen and his confusion as

a result when things did not happen that way.

There is a great deal of evidence during the deal, before the deal and afier the
deal that ] continued to rely on Express Auto to tell him what he should do,
when he found himself with no trade in and owning two cars with payments

needed.
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The response te his confusion by Express and the suggestions of action of its
employees to i at 2!l times were wrong, misleading and further added to the

prablems for JE-

With the information collected by Express prior fo the sale occurring, such as
details on the buyout of the lease, the Equifax report, discussion with his
consumer trustee there was no way that the supplier, Express in any reasonable
circumstances could have ever considered that Jjjij would be able to pay for

The Malibu.

The motivation of Express Auto in proceeding the way it did was the completion
of a deal with a live consumer, [JJJill whom, they had asked to come in.

They misled him in getting him to sign the agreement before crossing out the
part saying no frade in.

They knew he could not get financing if the details of the payments owed on his
car were known to the new financier.

I never concealed any information from Express.

He relied on them fo do the right thing, after the sale when he asked what he

should do.

The suggestions given o him to cancel paying TCL, to change banks and to ask
them to pick up his dodge were all wrong, misleading and harmful.

They also knew that il would accept their suggestions as he did, because
they knew always that he was relying upon their professional opinion.

I wes the ultimate vulnerable consumer for whom the Consumer Protection
act exists.

Express Auto knew before the deal that he had no disposable income, that he
was under & consumer proposal to keep his debts in order.

Express knew, when he came in that his reason for signing up on Canada Drives
was to find another replacement car that would cost less and have better

mileage per litre.
Express knew that he wanted a trade in.
Express knew that he knew nothing about how car trade ins work.

They just teld him, no trade in, here iz another cheaper car and that they could
get it financed for him.
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He relied on these statements.

They told him hie could not get out of the deal once he had signed. He knew
nathing about the two weeks to take the car back.

They tried to get him financing by net providing the truth fo TCL.
They then told him to breach his agreement with TCL and to stick with them.

Express Auto breached every possible duty of honesty and professionalism in
its dealings with -

Finally, when TCL called him he found Anne af TGL who told him about returning
the car to Express and told him about AMVIC and its role in consumer pretection.

It is with a sigh of relief that her enfrance into the saga is greeted.

The unhelpful Stotschek, however, suggests to [N his note written to
support Express Auto's conduct, some time in the new year 2017 that TCL (page
88} “‘caoached the complainant in trying to back out of the deal”.

Such an evidentiary flight of fancy cn the facts found by the Panel deserves no
comment.

Further he states that the trustee said that the vehicle could be returned to TGL
“and the new amount could be absorbed into the new proposal if required.

This was completely denied by the frustee.

Stotschek then accuses TCL of “orchestrating this whole scenaiio as another
business” “who is unhappy that they lost a customer and has provided false
infarmation to the complainant.” :

Such unsupported comments and accusations as a response to the investigation
of il cannot be explained.

They remove any respect for whatever role Stotschek thinks he has at Express
Auto.

Amazingly after such statements, he completely, when acting as a agent at the
hearing, failed to cross examine il to put this bizarre theory to him.

The Panel finds that the evidence produced at the hearing completely proves
the breaches of the sections of Unfair Practice laid out above.

The need and drive to get a sale of any kind, out of a live consumer, seems the
only very poaor rationale, and not one that removes the wrongness of the actions.
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That is of course why we have the Consumer Protection Act (formerly the FTA)

Everything they did worked to the detriment of Il .

He ended up owning two cars with two lease payments when he could barely
pay for one. Paying less for one had been his motivation when he signed up
on Canada Drives

He had no knowledge of how a trade in worked but that is what he was hoping
for. '

Vicarious liability under the Siatute has been proven.

At all times Jlllvas dependent on their advice and statements and Express
Auto knew that.

The standard of proof required is one of balance of probabilities fo justify a
finding that could lead to an administrative penalty being imposed.

That standard has more than been reached and passed in the evidentiary facis
we have found here.

M. S as @ careful and thorough witness who set out very clearly the
process involved on this case and supported his findings.

His own background, career and thoughtfulness in his actions gave confidence
to those that heard him.

Mr. JElvas very clear in his oral evidence and in his written complaint {see
page 90). His evidence never changed.

The disclosure documents support this.

He is the very person that this legislation is meant to protect, an elderly
immigrant man in Canada since Jif who works mainly in [ jobs to

- support his family and whose first language is not English.

The statute has recently changed its name to the Consumer Protection Act {from
the FTA.). '

nr. il was the very consumer who need protecting, as it furned out from
various employees at Express Aute, for whose acfions and conduct Express

Auto was vicariously liable.

Express Auto employed salesman whose actions breached the FTA seclions .
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We find on the facts and the evidence that Express Auto did breach three
sections of the FTA {now the Consumer Protection Act).

Fortunately, Mr. Jjiilij was directed to AMVIC, by Anne of TCL, when he had no
idea how to proceed. It provided him with an avenue of help.

The Panel finds Mr. Jlll honest.

Anybody that dealt with Mr. JJjjJl in Express Auto knew that he was vulherable
and ought to have known that their wrong conduct could harm him.

When things went wrong, and the financing failed for the Malibu, inevitably, they
offered no help at all and only made mafters worse with their suggestions.

He came out in a bigger mess than he had ever started. He owned two cars,
when he could barely pay for one.

His disposable monthly income was $10.00.
It was the responsibility of the regulated dealer not to take advantage of him.

The sales staff misrepresented fo Mr. Jjjjii] what was happening and changed
the deal before his eyes after he had signed.

And then they pretended to hang on the law and say, if is your car, you signed,
in other words, you are stuck.

Mr. Il is still owed $652.62.00 from having to pay for two vehicles.

Express Aufo knew that the Equifax report saying zero owed was wrong ,
particularly after receiving the buyout report, from TCL. They used the same
document, wrongly to try and get another finance company TGL invohed in the

deal.

Of course, there was no statutory requirement for Express Aufo to provide
evidence at the hearing but it was certainly available to it ,and that opportunity

was turned down.

But the written evidence and oral evidence provides a very clear, and

~ uncontradicted evidentiary story.

The only supportive evidence for Express Aufo as a regulated dealer came from
Mr R for the Director during his evidence, when he described the positive
findings of a dealer inspection by AMVIC in May 2017. He explained how well
the dealer was operating at that time. This does not change the facts found in

relation fo 'S complaint.
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The Panel finds all alleged breaches proved.

With reference to the administrative penalty assessed pursuant to section 158,
the Panel finds the comments of Ms. Hale and the cases provided of great
assistance in enabling the Panel to conclude an administrative penalty was

justified.

The panel finds the amount of $5000 somewhat on the low side, given the range
available under the regulatary scheme and its findings of fact. '

The Panel accepts the language of Patel v WG Housing Lid. (City core
Developments Lid.) 2012 ABQB 34 that the legislative purpose of the FTA is
found to be to “protect unsuspecting consumers from unconscientious suppliers

of goods and services.”

Also, in R v Gardner 2017 ABPC 11 art para 29 the court states that "the
requlatory measures are generally directed to the prevention of future harm
through the enforcement of minimum standards of conduct.”

The panel further notes the following penalty in these circumstances:

= August 15", 2017 adminisirative penalty of the Director in the amount of
$14,000 levied against Zane Auto and $9,000 against Davis GMC Buick

LTD.

There is here no compensation for | for the egregious conduct of Express
Auta and the distress that he clearly experienced when his only problem was his

vulnerability and need to rely on Express Auto.

The Panel can only wonder what might have happened if Mr. il had not
managed fo speak to Anne at TCL who was prepared to listen and direct him fo

the right source, AMVIC, for help.

Signed ' Dated June 12, 2018

Virginia May Chair

“ﬂﬁnal signed by"
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Allan Briggs Panel member

"original signed by"

Lyle Berge. Panel member

"original signed by"
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